

ANAEMIA AT BOOKING AND RELATED FACTORS IN PREGNANT WOMEN ATTENDING ANTENATAL CLINIC IN A RURAL HEALTH FACILITY IN SOUTH-SOUTH NIGERIA.

ABSTRACT

Background: Anaemia in pregnancy has remained a universal public health issue causing maternal and fetal morbidity and mortality.

Aim: To determine the prevalence of anaemia in pregnancy at booking and other related determinants.

Study design: This study is a prospective cross sectional descriptive study.

Place and Duration of Study: This study was carried out at the antenatal booking clinic Federal Medical Centre Yenagoa, Otuoke Outreach, Nigeria, from January 2017 to December 2020.

Methodology: The study that utilized 770 pregnant women. A structured study proforma was used to extract socio-demographic characteristics and other relevant data. Two to three drops of blood was collected from the participants and the haemoglobin was estimated using the HemoCue Hb 801 haemoglobin system.

Results: Overall the prevalence of anaemia in pregnancy at booking is 70.0% and the highest prevalence of anaemia in pregnancy at booking occurred in primigravida. Anemia in pregnancy was more common in; social Class 3; 308 (40.0%), and age; 25–29: 66(32.3%). Moderate anaemia occurred more frequently in grand multipara 11 (18.5%) compared to other parities but mid anaemia occurred more in para 2 to 4, 180 (67.2%). More than 50% of the women irrespective of the social class had mild anaemia. Anaemia was more frequent in the 2nd trimester (56.4%). Expectedly, anaemia occurred more frequently in rural dwellers

Comment [a1]: Please write the abstract together without subheadings

603 (78.3%) compared to suburban 43 (5.6%) and urban dwellers 124 (16.1%). On related factors, there was only a significant association between anaemia and social class $p = 0.002$.

Comment [a2]: This is not correct according to your results

Conclusion: The prevalence of anaemia in pregnancy at booking is unacceptably high.

Institution of preconception care, tailored surveillance and execution of policies aimed at prevention are apt, in the background of ensuring the education of the girl child.

Keywords; *anaemia; anaemia in pregnancy; haemoglobin; antenatal booking; Southern Nigeria.*

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Comment [a3]: Please cross-check the general punctuations

Anaemia has remained the commonest medical disorder in pregnancy [1] and is the most common hematologic abnormality diagnosed in pregnancy [2]. It is a frequent comorbidity in several nutritional and medical conditions [3]. Anaemia is a “medical condition which results when the number of healthy circulating erythrocytes (and consequently their oxygen-carrying capacity) is insufficient to satisfactorily transport oxygen to the tissues to meet the body’s physiologic demands which may vary according to age, sex, and pregnancy status” [4].

When body tissues are supplied with a scant amount of oxygen, many organs and functions are compromised. Anaemia decreases the woman’s reserve to withstand bleeding either during or after childbirth and it also predisposes to infections [5]. Anaemia during pregnancy is especially a concern because its sequela results in to increase in perinatal and maternal morbidity and mortality [6,7].

According to the World Health Organization (WHO) anaemia in pregnancy occurs when the haemoglobin concentration falls below 11g/dL (or hematocrit less than 33%) in pregnant women [8]. However, the baseline value of 10.0g/dL is recognized as the standard cut-off mark in developing countries like Nigeria and this is premised on the research by Lawson [9] who reported that significant adverse foetomaternal outcomes do not occur except the haemoglobin level drops below 10.0g/dl.

The global prevalence of anaemia in pregnant women is 36.5%, while in Africa it is 45.8% [10]. In Nigeria prevalence ranging from 23.7 to 88.7% [11,12], have been reported

The wide variations in the prevalence rates in different climes and regions are because of differences in; socio-demographic characteristics, etiological factors, lifestyles, and health-seeking behaviour across different cultures, widespread use of haematinics and use of anti-malarial prophylaxis before booking for antenatal care services [4,7,8], [13].

The etiological factors implicated in anaemia during pregnancy in developing countries are multifactorial and may occur singly or in combination. They include micronutrient deficits in folate, iron, and vitamins A and B12 and anaemia triggered by parasitic infestations such as malaria and helminths. or chronic infections like TB and HIV [14-17]. The influence and impact of each of these factors identified as culpable for anaemia during gestation differ widely due to geographic location, weather, food practice, beliefs and religion, myths and the season. In Sub-Saharan Africa, nutritional anaemia is the most commonest of anaemia during pregnancy and poor intake of diets rich in iron is implicated as the chief cause of anaemia among pregnant women [15,16,18].

This study sort to assess the prevalence of anaemia and its related factors in a rural hospital setting in South-Southern Nigeria.

2.0 METHODOLOGY

2.1 Study design

This was a prospective cross-sectional descriptive study

2.2 Study Area

This study was carried out at the antenatal clinic of the Federal Medical Centre, Yenagoa, Otuoke Outreach between 1st of January 2017 to 31st December 2020.

2.3 Study Site

The Outreach is a forty-four (44) bedded hospital situated in Otuoke town. Otuoke is a rural suburb in the Ogbia local government area of Bayelsa State in the Niger Delta region of Nigeria. The hospital acts mainly as a referral centre for other government-owned and private hospitals in Bayelsa East Senatorial zone which has a population of 661,100 people [19]. The hospital has an established Obstetrics and Gynaecology department which is manned by three (3) consultant Obstetrician and Gynaecologists and other doctors.

2.4 study population

This consisted of women who presented for antenatal booking regardless of maternal age, gestational age, and parity. Consent to participate in the study was gotten after they have been duly counselled on the nature of the study and assuring them of utmost confidentiality.

2.5 Sample Collection

The tip of the ring finger was disinfected with methylated spirit and then wiped dry. Using a lancet, the tip of the ring finger was punctured and the first 2 to 3 drops of blood were wiped off and the finger was gently squeezed until there were droplets of blood sufficient to fill the microcuvette which was then placed in the Hemocue machine and the result recorded.

2.6 Laboratory Procedure

The haemoglobin level was determined using the HemoCue Hb 801 haemoglobin photometer method.

2.7 Inclusion Criteria and Exclusion

Excluded from the study were; (1) patients with haemoglobinopathies (2) Patients with a known medical history of bleeding disorder and (3) multiple pregnancies, (4) hypertensive diseases of pregnancy, (5) A history of per vaginam bleeding before booking of index pregnancy, and (6) patients with renal or cardiac diseases. Included in the study were pregnant women without any of the exclusion criteria and who consented to participate in the study.

2.8 Data Entry

All pertinent data such as sociodemographic characteristics - age, parity, occupation, gestational age at booking were all entered into a self-designed study pro forma.

2.9 Definition of Anaemia

Anaemia was considered for Hb levels lower than 11 g/dL using the World Health Organization [20] level. It was further classified according to WHO criteria, into mild (Hb levels of 10.0 to 10.9g/dL), moderate (Hb levels of 7.0 to 9.9g/dL) and severe anaemia (Hb levels < 7.0g/dL). Lawson [9] defined anaemia in third world countries as a haemoglobin level of <10 g/dl in pregnancy.

2.9 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with the SPSS software (statistical package for social sciences, SPSS v 23.0, Chicago, IL). Statistical significance was determined using the chi-square test, *p*-value at 0.05 was considered significant.

3.0 RESULTS

Seven hundred and seventy (770) women met the inclusion criteria and were enrolled in the study.

Table 1: Sociodemographic characteristics of pregnant women participating in the study.

Characteristics	Frequency N = 770	Per cent (%)
Age Group		
Teenagers	32	4.2
20 - 24 years	149	19.4
25 - 29 years	249	32.3
30 - 34 years	198	25.7
>35 years	142	18.4
Mean Age \pm SD 28.8 \pm 5.5		
Religion		

Christian	758	98.4
Muslim	8	1.0
Others	4	0.5
Level of Education		
Primary	39	5.1
Secondary	398	51.7
Tertiary	333	43.2
Marital Status		
Single	20	2.6
Married	750	97.4
Family Type		
Monogamous	746	99.5
Polygamous	4	0.5
Residence		
Rural	603	78.3
Suburban	43	5.6
Urban	124	16.1

As shown in table 1, the mean age at booking is 28.8 ± 5.5 . Expectedly, teenagers constituted the smallest group in the study accounting for only 4.2% of the study population whilst the highest number of participants were in the age bracket 25 to 29 years representing 32.2%. The majority of the women; had secondary education (51.7%) and in keeping with where the study was carried out, were rural dwellers (78.3%)

Table 2: Clinical and Obstetric features among pregnant women participating in the study

Characteristics		Frequency N = 770	Percent (%)
Parity	Range (0.0 – 11.0)		
0		269	34.9

1	174	22.6
2-4	268	34.8
≥ 5	59	7.7
Total	770	100
Trimester at booking		
1 st trimester	131	17.0
2 nd trimester	434	56.4
3 rd trimester	205	26.6
Total	770	100
Mean EGA at booking (in weeks) ± SD	21.2 ± 8.2	
Hb (g/dl) level at booking using Lawson criteria		
Anaemia (< 9.9)	279	36.2
No Anaemia (≥10.0)	491	63.8
Hb (g/dl) level at booking using WHO criteria		
Anaemia (< 10.9)	539	70.0
No Anaemia (≥11.0)	231	30.0
Mean ± SD	10.7 ± 3.2	

Comment [a4]: ???

As depicted in table 2 majority of the participant were para 0 (34.9%) and multipara (34.8%) and booking were more frequently done in the second trimester representing (56.4%).

Employing the WHO criteria, 539 pregnant women were anaemic and this gives a prevalence of anaemia of 70%. However, when the criteria by Lawson is used it drops to 36.2%.

The mean haemoglobin level at booking was 10.7 ± 3.2 .

Table 3: Association between the age and the degree of anaemia at booking

Age group	Haemoglobin level g/dl			Total (%)
	Anaemia (<10.9)		Normal	
	(7.0 – 9.9)	(10.0 – 10.9)	(≥ 11.0)	
	Moderate Freq (%)	Mild Freq (%)	Normal Freq (%)	
16 – 19 years	8 (25.0)	18 (56.3)	6 (18.8)	32 (4.2)
20 – 24 years	18 (12.1)	87 (58.4)	44 (29.5)	149 (19.4)
25 – 29 years	21 (8.4)	159 (63.9)	69 (27.7)	249 (32.3)
30 – 34 years	16 (8.1)	112 (56.6)	70 (35.4)	198 (25.7)
≥ 30 years	19 (13.4)	81 (57.0)	42 (29.6)	142 (18.4)
Total	82 (10.6)	457 (59.4)		
Grand Total	539 (70.0)		231 (30.0)	770 (100.0)

Pearson $\chi^2 = 14.85$; df = 8; p = 0.062

Table 3 showed that anaemia was more common in the age group of 25 to 29 years (32.3%)

No patient has severe anaemia and there was no significant statistical association between age group and the severity of anaemia p = 0.062.

Table 4: Association between trimester at booking and anaemia

Trimester at booking	Haemoglobin level g/dl			Total (%)
	Anaemia		Normal	
	(7.0 – 9.9)	(10.0 – 10.9)	(≥ 11.0)	
	Moderate Freq (%)	Mild Freq (%)	Normal Freq (%)	
1 st Trimester	7 (5.3)	59 (45.0)	65 (49.6)	131 (17.0)
2 nd Trimester	54 (12.4)	265 (61.1)	113 (26.0)	434 (56.4)
3 rd Trimester	19 (9.3)	133 (64.9)	53 (25.9)	205 (26.6)
Total	82 (10.6)	457 (59.4)		
Grand Total	539 (70.0)		231 (30.0)	770 (100.0)

Pearson $\chi^2 = 31.94$; df = 4; p = 0.001

Table 4 shows that the highest prevalence of anaemia occurred in the second trimester (56.4%). There is a significant statistical relationship between anaemia and the trimester the pregnant women booked for antenatal care.

Comment [a5]: Provide p-value

Table 5: Association between parity and anaemia at booking

Parity	Haemoglobin level g/dl			Total (%)
	Anaemia (<10.9)		Normal	
	(7.0 – 9.9) Moderate Freq (%)	(10.0 – 10.9) Mild Freq (%)	(≥ 11.0) Normal Freq (%)	
0	30 (11.2)	153 (56.9)	86 (32.0)	269 (34.9)
1	15 (8.6)	96 (55.2)	63 (36.2)	174 (22.6)
2 – 4	26 (9.7)	180 (67.2)	62 (23.1)	268 (34.8)
≥ 5	11 (18.6)	28 (47.5)	20 (33.9)	59 (7.7)
Total	82 (10.6)	457 (59.4)		
Grand Total	539 (70.0)		231 (30.0)	770 (100.0)

Pearson $\chi^2 = 16.54$; df = 6; p = 0.011

Table 5 showed that anaemia was commoner in primigravidae, while moderate anaemia was more common in grand multiparas. There was also a significant statistical association between parity and anaemia at booking, p = 0.011.

Table 6: Association between parturients' Social class and Haemoglobin level at booking

Social class	Haemoglobin level g/dl			Total (%)
	Anaemia		Normal	
	(7.0 – 9.9) Moderate Freq (%)	(10.0 – 10.9) Mild Freq (%)	(≥ 11.0) Normal Freq (%)	
1	7 (10.1)	39 (56.5)	23 (33.3)	69 (9.0)
2	13 (6.5)	120 (60.0)	67 (33.5)	200 (26.0)
3	31 (10.1)	179 (58.1)	98 (31.8)	308 (40.0)
4	25 (30.5)	100 (61.7)	37 (22.8)	162 (21.0)
5	6 (19.4)	19 (61.3)	6 (19.4)	31 (4.0)
Total	82 (10.6)	457 (59.4)		
Grand Total	539 (70.0)		231 (30.0)	770 (100.0)

Pearson $\chi^2 = 9.79$; df = 8; p = 0.002

Anaemia in pregnancy at booking was more prevalent in patients with social class 2 (26.0%)

and 3 (40.0%). Unpredictably it was least common in the patients with social class 5. On the

Comment [a6]: What are the criteria for dividing the women into social class. Who are in each social class?

grading of anaemia in pregnancy at booking, it occurred more frequently as mild (61.7%) and moderate anaemia in social classes 4 (30.5%).

Table7: Association between parturients' Residential locality and Haemoglobin level at booking

Residence	Haemoglobin level g/dl			Total (%)
	Anaemia		Normal	
	7.0 – 9.9 Moderate Freq (%)	10.0 – 10.9 Mild Freq (%)	≥ 11.0 Normal Freq (%)	
Rural	65 (10.8)	368 (61.0)	170 (28.2)	603 (78.3)
Suburban	7 (16.3)	21 (48.8)	15 (34.9)	43 (5.6)
Urban	10 (8.1)	68 (54.8)	46 (37.1)	124 (16.1)
Total	82 (10.6)	457 (59.4)		
Grand Total	539 (70.0)		231 (30.0)	770 (100.0)

Pearson $\chi^2 = 6.66$; df = 4; p = 0.155

Anaemia in pregnancy at booking is more prevalent in rural dwellers but there is no statistically significant association between residence and anaemia

DISCUSSION

The anaemia in pregnancy at booking is prevalent as revealed by our study, 539 women of the total of 770 were anaemic giving a prevalence of 70%. This is even though 16.1% of the participants booked for antenatal care are from an urban area (the hospital is 24.9km from the state capital and it is motorable). Due to the services offered in the hospital a sizeable number of our obstetric population travel this journey to access obstetric services. However, using the Lawson [9] definition of anaemia in pregnancy as haemoglobin of below 10 g/dl as the cutoff, only 36.2% of participants were anaemic at booking. Lawson [9] had reported that significant adverse foetomaternal effects do not occur until Haemoglobin falls below 10g/dl. The high prevalence reflects the meagre and harsh socioeconomic reality in a typical rural setting in the Niger Delta region of Bayelsa State, Nigeria. Similar comparable prevalence have been reported by other authors [21, 22], while other authors reported lower prevalent

values [13], [23-26]. Nonye-Enyindah et al [27] reported a prevalence of 86.4% from the same geopolitical zone this study was conducted.

The high prevalence of anaemia could be attributed to the myriad of risk factors for anaemia such as short inter-pregnancy interval, high parity, poverty, low socioeconomic status, poor health-seeking behaviour and lack of education [20], [28], [29].

On the grading of anaemia in pregnancy employing the WHO criteria, the majority of the pregnant women who had anaemia in pregnancy, 457(59.4%) had mild anaemia in pregnancy while 82 (10.6%) had moderate anaemia in pregnancy. Similar findings have been reported by other researchers [11], [5]. As it had been reported by other researchers [13], [23], [30], none of the pregnant women had severe anaemia in our study.

Mild anaemia was more prevalent in primigravida compared to other parities. However moderate anaemia was a more frequent occurrence in grand multipara.

As was similarly reported by Onoh et al [31] and Olatunbosun et al [32], anaemia was commonest in the age group 25 to 29 years and they constitute the highest number of participants in the study according to age. Within this age group, the proportion of pregnant women with anaemia was 32.3%. This finding is inconsistent with the reports by other authors, Paul et al [33] reported that the highest prevalence of anaemia in pregnant women was within the age bracket of 34 to 39 years. This study did not establish any statistically significant relationship between age and anaemia at booking in pregnant women.

Anaemia in pregnancy was more common in the second trimester accounting for 56.4% of cases across the trimesters. This might not be unconnected with the further haemodilution that occurs and reaches its peak in the second trimester because the majority of the participants in the study booked for antenatal care in the second trimester. This finding aligns with the report by Idowu et al [22] but is at variance with the report of WHO [20]. The

organization asserted that anaemia is considerably higher in the 3rd trimester of pregnancy than in the first two trimesters.

The highest prevalence of anaemia in pregnancy at booking was seen in primigravida (34.9%) and a similar finding was reported by Idowu et al [22] and Lelissa et al [30]. This was followed by multipara (para 1-4) [34.8%] and grand multipara was the least at 7.7% (table 5). Though there was a statistically significant relationship between parity and anaemia at booking, our data did not establish any defined pattern between parity and anaemia in pregnancy at booking. This is at variance with the report by Adewara et al [11] which established the correlation that the higher the parity, the higher the rate of anaemia in pregnancy at booking.

More than 50% of all pregnant women irrespective of the social class had mild anaemia using the WHO criteria. Anaemia in pregnancy at booking is more prevalent among women with social class 3 (40.0%), this is followed by social class 2 (26.0%). Surprisingly it was least prevalent in women in social 5 (4.0%). This is at variance with the finding by Onoh et al [31] and Bukar et al [34] who reported that it was more common in women in social class 4 and 5, while Onwuhafua et al [35] reported that it was more prevalent in social class 1 and 2. However, when the grading of anaemia is considered, mild and moderate anaemia was more prevalent in pregnant women in social classes 4 and 5. In this class of pregnant women, they tend to be more ignorant, poor, and illiterate, reside more in the rural areas and have poor seeking behaviour.

Expectedly anaemia in pregnancy at booking is more prevalent in rural dwellers than their counterparts in suburban and in urban areas. This was similarly reported by Iyanam et al [36]. Rural dwellers more frequently had mild anaemia while suburban women had more of moderate anaemia.

CONCLUSION

The prevalence of anaemia in pregnancy at booking in a rural setting like Otuoke situate in the Niger Delta region of Nigeria is high. The foetomaternal implications of this across the trimesters and the puerperium are far-reaching if not properly managed. It is a reflection of the non-existence of preconception care in our locality. This study has shown that the majority of the pregnant women booked for ante-natal care in the second trimester and the prevalence of anaemia is more in the second trimester and in pregnant women who are para 3. Mild anaemia was more prevalent in primigravidae while moderate anaemia was a more frequent occurrence in grand multiparas.

To curb this high prevalence, advocacy and proactive interventions which includes the utilization of contraception, preconception counselling, prompt diagnosis and treatment of febrile illness, regular deworming exercise and education of the girl child should be promoted

CONSENT

Written informed consent was obtained from the pregnant women before recruitment into the study.

ETHICAL APPROVAL

The authors herein affirm that this study was approved by the ethics committee of the hospital. (Approval no. FMCY/REC/ECC/2016/DEC/121). It was thus performed in accord with the ethical standards as set in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki

References

1. Theresa Lowry-Lehnen. Iron deficiency anaemia, Med. Indep. 2021 [cited 2022 Feb 12]; Available from: <https://www.medicalindependent.ie/clinical-news/iron-deficiency-anaemia/>

2. Arias F, Daftary SN, Bhide AG, editors. Haemoglobin disorders in pregnancy. In: Practical Guide to High-risk Pregnancy and Delivery. New Delhi: Elsevier; 2008. p. 465-88.
3. Lopez A, Cacoub P, Macdougall IC, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Iron deficiency anaemia. The Lancet 2016;387:907–16.
4. WHO. Prevalence of Anaemia in Women: A Tabulation of Available Information. 1992.
5. Youssry MA, Radwan AM, Gebreel MA, Patel TA. Prevalence of Maternal Anemia in Pregnancy: The Effect of Maternal Hemoglobin Level on Pregnancy and Neonatal Outcome. Open J. Obstet. Gynecol. 2018;08:676–87.
6. Levy A, Fraser D, Katz M, Mazor M, Sheiner E. Maternal anemia during pregnancy is an independent risk factor for low birthweight and preterm delivery. Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol. 2005;122:182–6.
7. Msuya SE, Hussein TH, Uriyo J, Sam NE, Stray-Pedersen B. Anaemia among pregnant women in northern Tanzania: prevalence, risk factors and effect on perinatal outcomes. Tanzan. J. Health Res. 2011;13:33–9.
8. WHO Scientific Group. Nutritional anemias: Report of a WHO scientific group. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser. 1968;405:5-37.
9. Lawson JB. Anaemia in pregnancy. In: Lawson JB, Stewart DB, editors. Obstetrics and Gynaecology in the Tropics. Edwards Arnold; 1967.
10. WHO. Haemoglobin concentrations for the diagnosis of anaemia and assessment of severity. Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2011 (WHO/NMH/NHD/MNM/11.1)
11. Adewara E, Omokanye LO, Olatinwo AO, Durowade KA, Panti AA, Salaudeen AG. Prevalence of Anaemia at booking in a semi-urban Community in North-Central, Nigeria. Niger Postgrad Med J. 2014;21:327-30.

12. Gweonu, OU, Onyeneho NG. Anemia in Pregnancy: Urban-Rural Comparison of Management and Prevention Among Women of Child-Bearing Age in Anambra State, Nigeria. *Int quarterly comm health educ.* 2019; 39(3), 155–161.
13. Esike C, Anozie O, Onoh R, Sunday U, Nwokpor O, Umeora O. The prevalence of anemia in pregnancy at booking in Abakaliki, Nigeria. *Trop. J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 2016;33:332–6.
14. Scott JM, Weir DG. The role of folic acid/folate in pregnancy: prevention is better than cure. *Recent Adv. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 1998;20:1–20.
15. Ajepe AA, Okunade KS, Sekumade AI, Daramola ES, Beke MO, Ijasan O, Olowoselu OF, Afolabi BB. Prevalence and foetomaternal effects of iron deficiency anaemia among pregnant women in Lagos, Nigeria. *PLoS One.* 2020;23;(1):e0227965.
16. McLean E, Cogswell M, Egli I, Wojdyla D, Benoist B de. Worldwide prevalence of anaemia, WHO Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System, 1993–2005. *Public Health Nutr.* 2009;12:444–54.
17. Vanderjagt DJ, Brock HS, Melah GS, El-Nafaty AU, Crossey MJ, Glew RH. Nutritional factors associated with anaemia in pregnant women in northern Nigeria. *J. Health Popul. Nutr.* 2007;25:75–81.
18. Ugwu NI, Uneke CJ. Iron deficiency anemia in pregnancy in Nigeria-A systematic review. *Niger. J. Clin. Pract.* 2020;23:889–96
19. Bayelsa (State, Nigeria) - Population Statistics, Charts, Map and Location; Available from: <https://www.citypopulation.de/php/nigeria-admin.php?adm1id=NGA006>
20. WHO. Haemoglobin concentrations for the diagnosis of anaemia and assessment of severity VMNIS | Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System. WHO/NMH/NHD/MNM/11.1. 2011

21. Okoh DA, Iyalla C, Omunakwe H, Iwo-Amah RS, Nwabuko C. A retrospective study of the prevalence of anaemia in pregnancy at booking in Niger Delta, Nigeria. *J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 2016;36:594–7.
22. Idowu OA, Mafiana CF, Dopu S. Anaemia in pregnancy: a survey of pregnant women in Abeokuta, Nigeria. *Afr. Health Sci.* 2005;5:295–9.
23. Aimakhu CO, Olayemi O. Maternal haematocrit and pregnancy outcome in Nigerian women. *West Afr. J. Med.* 2003;22:18–21.
24. Mahamoud NK, Mwambi B, Oyet C, Segujja F, Webbo F, Okiria JC, et al. Prevalence of Anemia and Its Associated Socio-Demographic Factors Among Pregnant Women Attending an Antenatal Care Clinic at Kisugu Health Center IV, Makindye Division, Kampala, Uganda. *J. Blood Med.* 2020;11:13–8.
25. Adanikin AI, Awoleke JO. Sociodemographic factors associated with anaemia in pregnancy at booking for antenatal care. *J. Obstet. Gynaecol. J. Inst. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 2016;36:44–7.
26. Oluwafemi FS, Fasoro AA, Akingbade AM, Faeji CO, Oni IO, Agunbiade T, et al. Prevalence of Anemia among Pregnant Women Registered at Antennal Clinic of Ondo Specialist Hospital, Ondo State, Nigeria. *Asian Hematol. Res. J.* 2019;1–7.
27. Nonye-Enyidah EI, Altraide BOA, Jumbo AI. Prevalence of anaemia in pregnancy at antenatal care booking in a teaching hospital in southern Nigeria. *Int. J. Reprod. Contracept. Obstet. Gynecol.* 2021;10:3287–95.
28. Levy A, Fraser D, Katz M, Mazor M, Sheiner E. Maternal anemia during pregnancy is an independent risk factor for low birthweight and preterm delivery. *Eur obstet gynecol reprod biol.* 2005;122(2):182–6.

29. Al-Farsi YM, Brooks DR, Werler MM, Cabral HJ, Al-Shafei MA, Wallenburg HC. Effect of high parity on occurrence of anemia in pregnancy: a cohort study. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 2011;11:7.
30. Lelissa D, Yilma M, Shewalem W, Abraha A, Worku M, Ambachew H, et al. Prevalence of Anemia Among Women Receiving Antenatal Care at Boiditii Health Center, Southern Ethiopia. *Clin. Med. Res.* 2015;4:79.
31. Onoh RC, O. L. Lawan, Ezeonu PO, P. O. Nkwo, Onoh TJP, L. O. Ajah. Predictors of anemia in pregnancy among pregnant women accessing antenatal care in a poor resource setting in South Eastern Nigeria. *Sahel Med J* 2014;18.
32. Olatunbosun O, Abasiattai A, Bassey E, James R, Ibanga G, Morgan A. Prevalence of Anemia among Pregnant Women at Booking in the University of Uyo Teaching Hospital, Uyo, Nigeria. *BioMed Res. Int.* 2014;2014.
33. Paul BA, Lucy I, Mary D-IN, Godwin AO, Seljul RM-C, Olugbenga OT, et al. Prevalence of anaemia in pregnancy among women visiting antenatal clinic in bingham University Teaching Hospital Jos, Nigeria. *Clin. Med. Res.* 2016;5:52–62.
34. Bukar M, Audu BM, Yahaya UR, Melah GS. Anaemia in pregnancy at booking in Gombe, North-eastern Nigeria. *J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* [Internet] 2008 [cited 2022 Feb 28];28:775–8. Available from: <https://doi.org/10.1080/01443610802463835>
35. Onwuhafua PI, Ozed-Williams IC, Kolawole AO, Zayyan MS, Adze J. Prevalence of anaemia in the antenatal booking population at Ahmadu Bello University teaching hospital, Kaduna, Nigeria. *Port Harcourt Med J.* 2018;12(1):23.
36. Iyanam V, Idung A, Jombo H, Udonwa N. Anaemia in Pregnancy at Booking: Prevalence and Risk Factors among Antenatal Attendees in a Southern Nigeria General Hospital. *Asian J. Med. Health* 2019;1–11.

UNDER PEER REVIEW